0A 4-7-95

FILED

SID J. WHITE

FEB 6 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

By\_

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 84,182

THIRD DISTRICT CASE NO. 93-981

ROBERT J. ROQUE,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

# ON PETITION TO INVOKE DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

### PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

LAW OFFICES OF MARK KING LEBAN, P.A. 2920 First Union Financial Center 200 South Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33131-5302 (305) 374-5500 Fla. Bar No. 0147920

and

ARTURO ALVAREZ, ESQUIRE 2151 S.W. LeJeune Road Suite 310 Coral Gables, Florida 33134

#### QUESTION PRESENTED

WHETHER FLORIDA'S COMMERCIAL BRIBE RECEIVING STATUTE, SECTION 838.15(1), FLORIDA STATUTES (SUPP. 1990), IS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE AND SUSCEPTIBLE TO ARBITRARY APPLICATION.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>As the Circuit Court's ORDER found: "During the period alleged, Smith, to whom the defendant owed no fiduciary duty, voluntarily paid the defendant this portion from his commission;\*\*\*The Court finds that the defendant did not serve as Smith's employee, and that during the period of time alleged in the information, KELLY obtained exactly what it bargained for through its financing and refinancing of loans with Mr. Smith. KELLY suffered no harm during the period of time charged in the information, but rather profited through its transactions with Smith in the normal course of business. ...". (R.147-8).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Section 838.15(1), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1990), is unconstitutionally vague and susceptible to arbitrary application. The statute prohibits an agent or employee of another, or a manager in the affairs of an organization, from accepting a thing of benefit "with intent to violate a statutory or common law duty" to which the person in his or her capacity is subject. It totally fails to define the nature of the "statutory or common law duty" to which the person is subject, requires no harm to the employer or other fiduciary, and contains no scienter requirement. Similar statutes have been repeatedly condemned on vagueness and susceptibility-to-arbitrary-application grounds by this Court. Locklin v. Pridgeon, 158 Fla. 737, 30 So.2d 102 (1947); State v. DeLeo, 356 So.2d 306 (Fla. 1978); State v. Jenkins, 469 So.2d 733 (Fla. 1985); Cuda v. State, 639 So.2d 22 (Fla. 1994). An individual must guess at his peril what specific acts might violate a "statutory or common law duty," and is subjected to a severe criminal penalty even if his or her act does not constitute a violation of the criminal law, was committed with no corrupt intent, and resulted in no measurable harm to his or her fiduciary.

The statute here at issue is indistinguishable from others making it criminal for a "public servant" to obtain a benefit for himself and violating "any statute or lawfully adopted regulation or rule relating to his office," <u>State v. DeLeo</u>, <u>supra</u>, or "refrain[ing] from performing a duty imposed upon him by law. . .", <u>State v. Jenkins</u>, <u>supra</u>, or for an agent or employee of the state or federal government acting under color of such authority doing

"any act. . .not authorized by law," Locklin v. Pridgeon, supra, or a private person managing the funds of an aged person "by the improper or illegal use" of such funds "for profit." <u>Cuda v.</u> <u>State, supra</u>. Yet, this Court, in each of these cases, struck the analogous statutes there at issue on the identical grounds utilized by the trial judge in the case at bar, namely, vagueness and susceptibility to arbitrary application.

The Third District's distinctions between the statute here at issue and those stricken by this Court are ephemeral. Further, the Third District's reliance upon <u>Rodriguez v. State</u>, 365 So.2d 157 (Fla. 1978), is at once misplaced and serves to demonstrate, by <u>Rodriguez's</u> contrast to the case at bar, the unconstitutionality of the commercial bribe receiving statute. Since the statute is vague and susceptible to arbitrary application, this Court must declare it constitutionally invalid and quash the decision of the Third District.

#### ARGUMENT

FLORIDA'S COMMERCIAL BRIBE RECEIVING STATUTE, SECTION 838.15(1), FLORIDA STATUTES (SUPP. 1990), IS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE AND SUSCEPTIBLE TO ARBITRARY APPLICATION.

The defendant submits that section 838.15(1), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1990), purporting to criminalize commercial bribe receiving, unconstitutionally vague and susceptible to is arbitrary application. The statute here at issue, in regulating private misconduct, is analogous to statutes regulating "official misconduct" which have been repeatedly stricken for the vices of vagueness and arbitrary application. It is also analogous to statutes, similarly stricken by this Court, purporting to criminalize an employee's acts "not authorized by law," or purporting to criminalize acts of a manager for "improper or illegal use" of the assets of another. Moreover, it does not define nor require any corrupt intent to injure or harm the purported victim of the offense.

It is long established Florida law that "a penal statute which either forbids or requires the doing of an act in terms so vague that men of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning and differ as to its application violates the first essential of due process of law." <u>Brock v. Hardie</u>, 114 Fla. 670, 678-9, 154 So. 690, 694 (1934). Stated differently, "an assault on the constitutionality of a penal statute <u>vel non</u> must necessarily succeed if the language does not convey sufficiently definite warnings of the proscribed conduct when measured by common understanding and practice. ...". <u>D'Alemberte v. Anderson</u>, 349

So.2d 164, 166 (Fla. 1977). Moreover, "when construing a penal statute against an attack of vagueness, where there is doubt, the doubt should be resolved in favor of the citizen and against the state, [since] criminal statutes are to be strictly construed according to the letter thereof." <u>State v. Wershow</u>, 343 So.2d 605, 608 (Fla. 1977). Although a court has a duty to uphold a law, this Court has recognized that the duty to uphold the <u>constitution</u> is greater than the duty to uphold a law. <u>Delmonico v. State</u>, 155 So.2d 369, 371 (Fla. 1963); <u>Powell v. State</u>, 345 So.2d 724 (Fla. 1977).

Consistent with this Court's pronouncements, the United States Supreme Court has repeatedly condemned statutes for vagueness and susceptibility to arbitrary application. Grayned v. City of Rockford, 408 U.S. 104, 108-9, 92 S.Ct. 2294 (1972) ("[A]n enactment is void for vagueness if its prohibitions are not clearly defined.\*\*\*If arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement is to be prevented, laws must provide explicit standards for those who apply them."); Kolender v. Lawson, 461 U.S. 352, 357, 103 S.Ct. 1855 (1983) ("a penal statute [must] define the criminal offense with sufficient definiteness that ordinary people can understand what conduct is prohibited and in a manner that does not encourage arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement."). Indeed, the Kolender Court observed that "the more important aspect of the vagueness doctrine 'is not actual notice, but the other principal element of the doctrine--the requirement that a legislature establish minimal guidelines to govern law enforcement.'" 461 U.S. at 358, quoting Smith v. Goguen, 415 U.S. 566, 574 (1974). And, with particular

significance to the case at bar, the <u>Kolender</u> Court warned of the danger that "[w]here the legislature fails to provide such minimal guidelines, a criminal statute may permit a standardless sweep that allows policemen, prosecutors, and juries to pursue their personal predilections." <u>Id</u>.

Thus, the void-for-vagueness doctrine requires the legislature to define criminal offenses with sufficient clarity so that two objectives are met: (1) ordinary people can understand what conduct the statute prohibits; and (2) law enforcement officials (including prosecutors) are not encouraged to arbitrarily enforce the statute. <u>Kolender v. Lawson</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Wyche v. State</u>, 619 So.2d 231 (Fla. 1993).

Measured by these standards, the commercial bribe receiving statute here at issue must fall. As stated, the statute purports to prohibit private conduct, consisting of accepting a benefit with intent to violate "a statutory or common law duty" to which the person is subject as an agent or employee of another, or as a manager or other participant in the direction of the affairs of an organization.<sup>6</sup> The statute fails to provide whether the duty must be substantial or minor, and the statute fails to provide that the violation of the purported duty must result in any harm to the principal, employer, or organization. Moreover, the statute fails

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The only conceivable relationships that could apply to the defendant in the case at bar are those set forth in §838.15(1)(a), "[a]n agent or employee of another," or (d) "[a]n officer, director, partner, manager, or other participant in the direction of the affairs of an organization. . .". The defendant does not dispute that he was an employee of Kelly, and that he was Kelly's credit manager.

to provide that the accused must have any unlawful, corrupt, or willful intent in accepting "a benefit," and fails to attribute any corrupt or unlawful intent even in that portion of the statute prohibiting the violation of a "statutory or common law duty."<sup>7</sup>

The defendant submits that this statute, prohibiting private misconduct, is directly analogous to previous Florida statutes purporting to prohibit "official misconduct" which have been repeatedly condemned by this Court.

In <u>State v. DeLeo</u>, 356 So.2d 306 (Fla. 1978), this Court struck as unconstitutionally vague and susceptible to arbitrary application section 839.25(1)(c), Florida Statutes (1977), the "Official Misconduct" statute, which provided as follows:

839.25. Official Misconduct--

(1) "Official Misconduct" means the commission of one of the following acts by a public servant, with <u>corrupt intent</u> to obtain <u>a benefit</u> for himself or another or to cause unlawful harm to another:

\* \* \*

(c) Knowingly <u>violating</u>, or causing another to violate, <u>any</u> statute or lawfully adopted <u>regulation or rule relating to his office</u>.

In condemning this statute as unconstitutionally vague, this Court held that "Official Misconduct" under this subsection "is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>As set forth above, the statute provides that "[a] person commits the crime of commercial bribe receiving if the person. . accepts. . . a benefit with intent to violate a statutory or common law duty. . .". There is thus no intent requirement at all with regard to the acceptance of the benefit, and the only intent requirement with regard to violation of a statutory or common law duty is that the defendant have "intent" to do so, not that he have willful, unlawful, or corrupt intent to violate the purported duty.

keyed into the violation of any. . .rule or regulation. . .whether they contain criminal penalties themselves or not, and no matter how minor or trivial." In addition, this Court observed that "public servant," while not defined in the Official Misconduct statute itself, was defined in a related chapter "as any. . . agent or governmental <u>employee</u>. . .". 356 So.2d at 308. Thus, this Court observed that "an appointed employee could be charged with official misconduct, a felony of the third degree. . . for violating a minor agency rule applicable to him, which might carry no penalty of its own." Id. Of course, the identical defects apply to the "commercial bribe receiving" statute under attack in the case at bar. A violation of §838.15(1) is keyed into the violation of any "common law duty," whether such a violation contains any criminal penalties itself or not, and no matter how egregious or In <u>DeLeo</u>, a "public servant" was defined as any insignificant. agent or (governmental) employee, precisely as §838.15 defines the subject person under the commercial bribe receiving statute here. Thus, under our statute, the office manager of a small concern that accepts a \$5.00 pen from the office supply company salesman, with the intent, as the person in charge of purchasing office supplies, to purchase pencils (or rubber bands) in the future only from that supplier, is guilty of a third degree felony.<sup>8</sup>

The <u>DeLeo</u> Court also held that the statutory element contained in the "Official Misconduct" statute of "corrupt intent" did not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>The absurdity of this and many other examples will not be belabored, nor expanded upon. Even in this example, the employer has been "harmed," unlike Kelly in the case at bar.

save the statute from arbitrary application since "corrupt intent" was defined elsewhere in Chapter 839 as "'done with knowledge that the act is wrongful and with improper motive.'" 356 So.2d at 308, quoting §839.25(2), Fla.Stat. (1977). This Court held that this standard "is too vague to give men of common intelligence sufficient warning of what is corrupt and outlawed, therefore, by the statute. The 'corruption' element, as defined, does nothing to cure the statute's susceptibility to arbitrary application." Id. [footnote omitted]. Of course, in the case at bar, there is no "corrupt intent" element at all contained within the statute.<sup>9</sup> If the statute in <u>DeLeo</u> was unconstitutionally vague and susceptible to arbitrary application, then <u>a fortiori</u> the commercial bribe receiving statute at issue in the case at bar is similarly defective.

The <u>DeLeo</u> Court concluded that the statute there at issue also was unconstitutional "because of its 'catch-all' nature." <u>Id</u>. That identical defect plagues the commercial bribe receiving statute. The susceptibility to arbitrary application of the statute is demonstrated in this very case. The defendant's alleged conduct in requiring a "kickback" or commission from <u>Mr. Smith</u> resulted in no harm to <u>Kelly</u>, the employer, principal, or organization to whom the defendant purportedly owed some undefined common law duty, during the period of time alleged in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>While lack of an intent requirement does not doom the statute, "[c]riminal statutes that reduce or eliminate traditional scienter. . .should receive greater scrutiny. . .". <u>State v.</u> <u>Smith</u>, 638 So.2d 509, 512 (Fla. 1994), Kogan, J., concurring in result.

information. Moreover, the statute appears to require no such harm.<sup>10</sup> The trial court, in its order striking the statute expressly found:

The Court finds that the defendant did not serve as Smith's employee, and that during the period of time alleged in the information, KELLY obtained exactly what it bargained for through its financing and refinancing of loans with Mr. Smith. KELLY suffered no harm during the period of time charged in the information, but rather profited through its transactions with Smith in the normal course of business, profits which KELLY would not have received were it not for the defendant's bringing Smith to KELLY in the first instance. (R.147-8).

Again, in <u>State v. Jenkins</u>, 469 So.2d 733 (Fla. 1985), <u>affirming</u>, 454 So.2d 79 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), this Court struck as unconstitutionally vague yet another subsection of the same Official Misconduct statute that was at issue seven years earlier in <u>DeLeo</u>, <u>supra</u>. In <u>Jenkins</u>, the defendant was charged with violating section 839.25(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1983), which provided in pertinent part that Official Misconduct consisted of an act of a public servant in obtaining a benefit for himself by "[k]nowingly refraining. . .from <u>performing a duty imposed upon him</u> <u>by law</u>. . .". It is submitted that this portion of the Official Misconduct statute is even more directly analogous to the commercial bribe receiving statute at issue in the instant case than was the subsection at issue in <u>DeLeo</u>. The First District, affirming the trial judge's order striking the statute, observed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>The condemned statute in <u>DeLeo</u>, at least, did have an alternative requirement, in addition to "obtain[ing] a benefit for himself," of "caus[ing] the <u>unlawful harm</u> to another." §839.25(1), Fla.Stat. (1977).

that "the duties addressed in (a) may be those imposed by any source of law, not merely the statutes and rules of (c), found to be overly broad in <u>DeLeo</u>." 454 So.2d at 80. Of course, in the case at bar, the "statutory or common law duty" whose violation is prohibited may also be imposed by any source of law, a standard even more nebulous than that found wanting in <u>DeLeo</u> with regard to the prohibition of the violation of "any. . .regulation or rule relating to [one's] office."

Affirming the First District's striking of the statute in <u>Jenkins</u>, this Court agreed that subsection (a) suffered "the same vulnerability to arbitrary application and [found] that it impermissibly allows the imposition of criminal penalties for the failure to perform duties imposed by statutes, rules, or regulations that may themselves impose either a lesser penalty or no penalty at all." 469 So.2d at 734. Thus, the Court held that the statute was "unconstitutionally vague and susceptible to arbitrary application." Id. It is submitted that the commercial bribe receiving statute's prohibition of a violation of "a statutory or common law duty" is precisely as vague and susceptible to arbitrary application as was the statute condemned by this Court in Jenkins.

The defendant further submits that the "common law duty" element of the commercial bribe receiving statute cannot survive constitutional scrutiny. In <u>Sullivan v. Leatherman</u>, 48 So.2d 836 (Fla. 1950), the Sheriff of Dade County was indicted for "neglect of duty" a common law offense. Against the defendant's assertion of failure to charge a crime known to the laws of Florida, the

State urged that the offense could be sustained under the theory that the indictment charged an offense of the "common law misdemeanor of failing or neglecting to perform a duty imposed on him by law. . .[and] conduct on the part of the Sheriff involving corruption or the abuse of any power entrusted to him for the benefit of the public" stated an offense. Thus, the State relied upon the Sheriff's violation of "this invoice of duties. . .". 48 So.2d at 838. In striking the indictment for failure to charge an offense, this Court held:

> the State relies on an indictment [I]f charging official misconduct. . .whether common law or statutory, the offense must be charged in direct and specific terms and that it was willfully or corruptly done or omitted.\*\*\*So it necessarily follows that when one is relying on a common law indictment. . ., it must meet constitutional and statutory requirements. The charge must be made in such positive and direct terms as will put the defendant on notice of what he is charged with and enable him to prepare his defense. 48 So.2d at 838.

In the case at bar, as previously observed, §838.15(1) does not require any such corrupt intent, nor does the information even allege such an intent. Pursuant to <u>Sullivan</u>, the trial court here correctly struck the statute.

The statute here at issue, in prohibiting one from accepting a benefit with intent to "violate a statutory or common law duty," is directly analogous to the exploitation of the elderly statute stricken by this Court in <u>Cuda v. State</u>, 639 So.2d 22 (Fla. 1994), which sought to criminalize "<u>the improper or illegal use</u> or management of the funds. . .of [an] aged person or disabled adult for profit. . .". Section 415.111(5), Florida Statutes (1991). In

the trial court struck the statute finding that the Cuda, prohibition of "improper or illegal" mismanagement of funds or assets of an aged person created constitutional vagueness problems. While agreeing that the term "improper" was constitutionally vague, the Fifth District nevertheless upheld the statute, construing the word "illegal" to mean that "the perpetrator must be found to have violated another criminal statute but not necessarily charged with a violation of that statute." State v. Cuda, 622 So.2d 502, 506 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993). Disagreeing, this Court held that the exploitation of the elderly statute "contains no clear explanation of the proscribed conduct [and] no explicit definition of terms. . . ". 639 So.2d at 25. The Court analogized the statute to an earlier statute containing the phrase "not authorized by law" which the Court had previously stricken on vagueness grounds. Locklin v. Pridgeon, 158 Fla. 737, 30 So.2d 102 (1947).

In Locklin, this Court found that the phrase "not authorized by law" was "too vague, indefinite and uncertain to constitute notice of the crime or crimes or unlawful acts which it purports to prohibit" and "prescribes no ascertainable standard of guilt." Locklin, supra at 103. The Locklin statute made it unlawful for any officer, agent or employee of the federal government or the State of Florida to commit any act under color of authority of their position which was "not authorized by law." Id. As the Cuda Court observed, in Locklin, the Court "held that the act was unconstitutionally vague because it required every government employee and officer 'to determine at his peril what specific acts

are authorized by law and what are not authorized by law.'" <u>Cuda</u>, <u>supra</u> at 23, quoting <u>Locklin</u>, 30 So.2d at 105.

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