FILED SID J. WHITE MAR 2 1995 CLERK. S By Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

, Y

.

CASE NO. 84,182

ROBERT J. ROQUE,

Petitioner,

-vs-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

LINDA S. KATZ Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0672378 Department of Legal Affairs Office of Attorney General Post Office Box 013241 Miami, Florida 33101 (305) 377-5441

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

-9-

Petitioner's argument fails to acknowledge that the The language of the statute limits and defines the common law or statutory duties involved to those which apply to the professions and legal relationships specifically enumerated in subparts (1)(a) through (e) of the statute. In its opinion in the subject action, the Third District held that "[a] person who fits into one or more of these categories is certainly aware of the duties which are commensurate with that station." Accordingly, the court concluded that, when read in its entirety, the statute is not unconstitutionally vague because the party to whom the law applies has fair notice of what is prohibited. Southeastern Fisheries, 453 So.2d at 1353-54; See State v. Hamilton, 388 So.2d 561, 562 (Fla. 1980) ("[A] defendant whose conduct clearly falls within the statutory prohibition may not complain of the absence of notice."). The Court went on to cite the New York case of People v. Cilento, 138 N.E.2d 137, 140 (N.Y. 1956) which held that the statute making it a crime for a union representative to take a bribe is not vague because "any person in the capacity of labor representative could not but clearly understand that a bribe taken to influence any of his duties is in violation of the section.

The statute's finite list of professions/legal relationships set forth in the commercial bribe receiving statute provide a "backdrop" for the statutory and common law duties referred to in the statute. Similarly, in <u>State v. Rodriguez</u>, 365 So. 2d 157 (Fla. 1978), this Court upheld a statute containing language that

-10-

prohibited acts "not authorized by law." The Court found that the statute, which involved food stamp fraud, was so inextricably linked to federal law that the use of the language "not authorized by law" means not authorized by state and federal food stamp law. Just as the federal law served as a backdrop in <u>Rodriguez</u>, providing requisite notice to make the statute constitutional, the enumerated professions/legal relationships in the subject statute provides notice as to whom the law applies.

The very reasoning which makes the instant case analogous to <u>Rodriquez</u> makes it distinguishable from <u>Locklin v. Pridgeon</u>, 158 Fla. 737, 30 So. 2d 102 (1947), which involved a statute which made it unlawful for any officer, agent, or employee of the federal government or the State of Florida to commit any act under color of authority of their position which is "not authorized by law." See <u>Cuda v. State</u>, 639 So.2d 22 (Fla. 1994). In <u>Locklin</u>, this Court held that the statute's use of "not authorized by law" was unconstitutionally vague because it required every government employee and officer to determine at his peril what specific acts are and are not authorized by law.

The commercial bribe statute is distinguishable from <u>Locklin</u> because the enumerated professions/legal relationships provide notice. Moreover, the commercial bribe receiving act does not prohibit "any" act which is not authorized by law. Instead, it expressly prohibits <u>commercial bribe receiving</u>. Thus, contrary to the Petitioner's argument, the Third District's opinion in the case at bar does not expressly and directly conflict with

-11-

Locklin. For the same reason, the subject opinion does not conflict with <u>Cuda</u>, in which this Court held that the statute at issue was unconstitutionally vague because, inter alia, it contained no clear explanation of the proscribed conduct.

Furthermore, contrary to the Petitioner's argument, there is no constitutional vagueness problem with the statute's use of "common law duty." Section 775.01, Fla. Stat., states, in pertinent part:

The Common Law of England in relation to crimes ... shall be in full force in this State....

This Court rejected a vagueness attack on a statute's use of the term "common law" in <u>State v. Egan</u>, 287 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1973). In <u>Egan</u>, the Court found that the use of the term "common law" by the Legislature was sufficiently clear and unambiguous, and allowed the courts to give effect to the plain meaning of the terms. Moreover, in <u>Egan</u>, as in the case at bar, the defendants asserted that the statute failed to give a person of ordinary intelligence fair notice of what constituted forbidden conduct. This Court also rejected that argument and refused to accept the premise that the statute was unconstitutional because it did not set forth in express language the common law made part of the law of this jurisdiction. Id. at p. 6.

-12-

Lastly, the statute's use of the word "bribe" further indicates the nature of the prohibited conduct. In it's opinion in the instant case, the Third District concluded its notice portion of the vagueness analysis as follows:

> 'Bribery is a well-known word, used widely and understood generally.' <u>King v. State</u>, 271 S.E.2d 630, 632 (Ga. 1980). 'Bribe' is defined as 'a price, reward, gift or favor bestowed or promised with a view to pervert the judgment or corrupt the conduct ... ' Webster's Third New International Dictionary 275 (1986). It is this common usage of the word 'bribe', and not a technical, legal usage, that the legislature employed in labeling the crime. Individuals of common intelligence know what a 'bribe' is.

<u>Roque</u>, 640 So.2d at 100. Consequently, the court found that the commercial bribe receiving statute adequately advises persons of common intelligence of what conduct is proscribed.

As to the second element of the vagueness analysis, the Third District correctly found that the commercial bribe receiving statute is not susceptible of arbitrary application so as to violate due process. However, in support of his position that the statute is subject to arbitrary application as applied to him, the Petitioner states that his alleged conduct in requiring a kickback from Smith resulted in no harm to Kelly, the employer, principal, or organization "to whom the defendant purportedly owed some undefined common law duty"... (p. 11-12). This argument fails based upon the Third District Court of

-13-

Appeal's holding in <u>Phillips Chemical Co. v. Morgan</u>, 440 So. 2d 1292 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983), <u>rev. denied</u>, 450 So. 2d 486 (Fla. 1984). The Petitioner conceded this point at oral argument before the Third District Court Of Appeal. Roque, 640 So.2d at 100.

<u>Phillips Chemical</u> was a civil case which involved an almost identical fact pattern as is at issue in the instant action. In <u>Phillips Chemical</u>, the Third District held that such kickbacks "were in blatant disregard of the most elemental fiduciary duties owed an employer not to deal in his business for the agent's own benefit." <u>Phillips Chemical</u>, 440 So. 2d at 1294. This holding in <u>Phillips Chemical</u> defines the particular common law duty which the Petitioner is alleged to have breached in accepting the kickbacks, and which gave rise to the subject criminal charges.

The Respondent maintains that the Petitioner had an undeniable fiduciary duty to Kelly as his employer. Petitioner's act of exacting kickbacks from Smith was a breach of his duty to Kelly which in itself necessarily caused harm to Kelly.³ To

³ There are several scenarios under which it is obvious to see that the Petitioner's exacting and receiving kickbacks from Smith harmed Kelly. For one, in protest of the Petitioner's insistence that Smith provide him with a kickback from the commission which Kelly paid Smith, after July 1, 1991, Smith stopped all further financing transactions with Kelly. It is axiomatic that the Petitioner's actions in receiving kickbacks from Smith harmed Kelly, where Smith ceased from doing any further business with Kelly in order to avoid having to pay him any additional kickbacks. Kelly was also harmed each time the Petitioner accepted a kickback from Smith. Pursuant to Petitioner's arrangement with Smith, Smith only received a portion of the commission amount actually paid by Kelly, with the remainder going directly to the Petitioner in the form a kickback. It is conceivable that if the Petitioner did not engage in this scheme

allege otherwise would be disingenuous. Moreover, such an allegation is totally without legal support. As was stated in <u>Kinzbach Tool Co. v. Corbett-Wallace Corp.</u>, 138 Tex. 565, 160 S.W.2d 509 (1942), which was adopted and followed in <u>Martin Co.</u> <u>v. Commercial Chemists, Inc.</u>, 213 So. 2d 477 (Fla. 4th DCA 1968), cert. denied, 225 So. 2d 523 (Fla. 1969):

> It is beside the point for either Turner [the employee] or Corbett [the payor] to say that Kinzbach [the employer] suffered no damages because it received full value for what it has paid and agreed to pay. A fiduciary cannot say to the one to whom he bears such relationship: You have sustained no loss by my misconduct in receiving a commission from a party opposite to you, and therefore you are without remedy. It would be a dangerous precedent for us to say that unless some affirmative loss can be shown the person who has violated his fiduciary relationship with another may hold on to any secret gain or benefit he may have thereby acquired.

Accordingly, the statute is not vague in relation to the Petitioner and therefore is not unconstitutional as applied to him. A defendant whose conduct clearly falls within a statutory prohibition may not complain that the statute is too vague to provide notice to others, in situations not before the court. <u>State v. Hamilton</u>, 388 So.2d 561 (Fla. 1980); <u>State v. Peters</u>, 534 So. 2d 760 f.n. 10 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988). Thus, Petitioner has

of receiving kickbacks, the amount which the Petitioner received from Smith could ultimately become a reduction in the actual commission paid to Smith, thereby resulting in a savings to Kelly. Lastly, the Petitioner's actions in coercing Smith to provide kickbacks as well as actually receiving the kickbacks while in course of his duty as a Kelly employee, fiduciary, officer or manager necessarily tainted Kelly's reputation.

no standing to contest the constitutionality of the subject statute.

Secondly, the commercial bribe receiving statute is not susceptible to arbitrary application as it's title expressly states that it is limited to "commercial" transactions and the statute specifically enumerates the professions/legal relationships to which it applies. This clearly limits the realm in which the statute may be applied to that of private industry and commercial transactions. Thus, the Petitioner's reliance on the argument that the subject statute is "directly analogous" to portions of the official misconduct statutes which this Court held to be unconstitutionally vague and subject to arbitrary application in Jenkins and DeLeo is misplaced. The Respondent maintains that the the commercial bribery statute involved in the case sub judice is highly distinguishable from both Jenkins and DeLeo, which dealt with official misconduct on the part of public officials.

The portion of the official misconduct statuted involved in <u>De Leo</u> prohibited a public servant, with corrupt intent, from obtaining a benefit for himself or another or causing unlawful harm to another, by:

knowingly violating, or causing another to violate any statute or lawfully adopted regulation or rule relating to his office. Section 838.25(1)(c), Florida Statutes (1977). This Court declared the statute unconstitutional because it found it to be susceptible to arbitrary application. In its reasoning, the Court stated, in pertinent part, as follows:

> ...All that is necessary for intent to be corrupt is that it be 'done with knowledge that the act is wrongful and with improper motive.' This standard is too vague to give men of common intelligence sufficient warning of what is corrupt and outlawed, therefore, by the statute. The 'corruption' element, as defined, does nothing to cure the statute's susceptibility to arbitrary application.

> While discretion some is inherent in prosecutorial decision-making, it cannot be The crime defined by the without bounds. statute, knowing violations of any statute, rule or regulation for an improper motive, is simply too open-ended to limit prosecutorial discretion in any reasonable way. The statute could be used, at best, to prosecute, as а crime, the most insignificant of transgressions or, at worst, to misuse the judicial process for political purposes. We find it susceptible to arbitrary application because of its 'catch-all' nature.

The portion of the official misconduct statute involved in <u>Jenkins</u> prohibited a public servant, with corrupt intent, from obtaining a benefit for himself or another or from causing unlawful harm to another by:

knowing refraining, or causing another to refrain from performing a duty imposed upon him by law... Section 839.25(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1983). This Court held that subsection (1), like subsection (c) is unconstitutionally vague and subject to arbitrary application. The Court found that the statute impermissibly allows the imposition of criminal sanctions for the failure to perform duties imposed by statutes, rules or regulations that may themselves impose either a lesser penalty or no penalty at all.

The act prohibited in the official misconduct statute was the violation of a legal duty. However, the statute failed to define or describe the legal duty sufficiently, resulting in the finding of unconstitutional vagueness. In contrast, in the statute involved in the instant case, Florida Statute 838.15, the prohibited act is specific, as it is expressly directed to the act of solicitation or acceptance of a bribe, and as such does not suffer from the "open-ended" and "arbitrary" application that so concerned the Supreme Court in <u>De Leo</u> and Jenkins.

Another distinction between the commercial bribery statute and the official misconduct statute is that the commercial bribery statute deals with persons engaged in arms length type relationships whereas the official misconduct statute deals with the issue of corruption of public servants. This political context from which the official misconduct statute must be construed was addressed in the <u>De Leo</u> and <u>Jenkins</u> opinion, as one of the Court's concerns was that the statute could be used to misuse the judicial process for political purposes.

-18-

The inapplicability of De Leo and Jenkins to a case such as the one at bar, where the statute is specific as to the conduct it proscribes, is further illustrated in State v. Riley, 381 So. 2d 1359 (Fla. 1980); Sandstrom v. Leader, 370 So. 2d 3 (Fla. 1979); and State v. Short, 483 So. 2d 10 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), <u>review denied</u> 486 So. 2d 597 (Fla. 1986). In Short, the Court rejected a vagueness challenge to the portion of the Official Misconduct Statute, which remained after De Leo and Jenkins. The Court reasoned that this portion of the statute was constitutional since it specifically defined the prohibited conduct as the knowingly falsifying, or causing another to falsify an official record or official document, and no person of common intelligence needs to guess that the terms "official record" and "official document" include the writings involved in Likewise, in the instant case, no person of common the case. intelligence needs to guess that the term "common law duty", as contained in the commercial bribe statute, includes an employee's obligation to pay a full commission to the person entitled, rather than keeping a kickback. Thus, the subject statute is not vague and is, therefore, not facially unconstitutional.

In closing, the limitation of the commercial bribe receiving statute to commercial transactions, along with the enumerated positions, clearly distinguish the instant opinion from <u>Jenkins</u> and <u>DeLeo</u>. Moreover, the political undertones present in <u>Jenkins</u> and <u>DeLeo</u> factored strongly into the opinions, as the Court was concerned that the statute could be used to misuse the judicial

-19-

process for political purposes. Thus, contrary to the Petitioner's argument, the Third District's opinion is also not in direct or express conflict with <u>Jenkins</u> nor <u>DeLeo</u>.

1.6

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing facts, authorities and reasoning, the Respondent maintains that the Third District Court Of Appeal's opinion was correct and does not expressly and directly conflict with any decision of this Court or of another District Court of Appeal. Accordingly, the Respondent respectfully requests that the Third District's opinion be affirmed by this Court.